1962

State of Utah v. Dennis Sherman Kinder : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is a criminal action in which the defendant was charged with robbery and grand larceny. Both charges arose out of the same occurrence which took place on October 30, 1961, at the Al Harris Dairy Milk Depot in Salt Lake City, Utah.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried to a jury. From

a vereict and judgment of guilty of robbery and grand larceny, defendant appeals.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The defendant seeks reversal of the judgment and a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On October 30, 1961, at about 8 P.M. an armed robber entered the Al Harris Dairy Milk Depot in Salt Lake City, Utah, and robbed Daniel L. Kelly, an employee, of \$156.83. The money belonged to the dairy company and was taken from the cash register. The robber wore a red bandana around the top of his head and had three or four days growth of beard on his face. After he departed, the police were called and made a routine investigation. During this investigation, Mr. Kelly identified a photograph of another person as being the robber, but later changed his mind

and identified a photograph of the defendant as the perpetrator of the crime.

During the trial of the case, Mr. Kelly identified the defendant as the person who took the money from him. Upon cross-examination, however, counsel brought out that the identification was somewhat doubtful.

The defendant took the stand at the trial and testified that he was in Arizona at the time the crime was committed. On cross-examination, the prosecutor was permitted, over counsel's objections, to bring out certain testimony about facts which were not mentioned on direct examination. This testimony was about a 1955 Ford pick-up truck in which the defendant drove to Arizona. The prosecutor was allowed to elicit facts about where the defendant obtained the truck and about certain changes that he made in the truck

before he left for Arizona. The State was later allowed by the court to show that the defendant had previously told a policeman a different story about the truck than what he told in court on the day of the trial.

After the crime was committed, the witness, Daniel Kelly, who was on parole from the Utah State Prison, was returned to the prison for parole violation. When the defendant was convicted, he was committed to the Utah State Prison for punishment. After he arrived at the prison, he talked to Mr. Kelly about the case and obtained an affidavit from him to the effect that the defendant was not the person who had robbed him. He also obtained an affidavit from Charles Glenis Anderson, another prisoner, who swears therein that Daniel Kelly told him the person who committed the crime had paid

him to testify at the trial.

ARGUMENT

Point 1. SINCE THE TRIAL OF THE CASE, THE DEFENDANT HAS DISCOVERED NEW EVIDENCE WHICH IS MATERIAL TO HIS CASE AND TO THE COURT AND WHICH HE COULD NOT, WITHOUT REASONABLE DILIGENCE, HAVE DISCOVERED PRIOR TO THE TRIAL OR PRODUCED AT THE TIME OF THE TRIAL.

After the defendant was committed to the Utah State Prison for punishment, he talked to the witness, Daniel Kelly, who had been returned to the prison for parole violation between the time of the alleged robbery and the trial of the case. After discussing the matter with Mr. Kelly, he obtained an affidavit which has been filed with the court in the above matter. The affidavit reads as follows:

"County of Salt Lake) : ss
State of Utah)

Comew now, DANIEL KELLY, being first duly sworn, deposes and says:

That I, DANIEL KELLY,
of my own free will and so that the
whole truth shall be made known to
all concerned, do hereby certify in

this affidavit that the testimony I heretofore gave on my sworn oath to tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth in and at the trial of DENNIS KINDER, the said DENNIS KINDER then and there being tried in court for the crime of robbing the AL HARRIS DAIRY located at Salt Lake City, in the State of Utah, said trial being had on the 13th day of June, 1962, was erroneous in that I, DANIEL KELLY, did mistakenly identify DENNIS KINDER as the person who robbed me at the time of the said robbery and I have since found out to my own satisfaction that DENNIS KINDER, who was convicted of robbing me, was not the person who did rob me and of the fact DENNIS KINDER did not rob me I am now certain and, to this fact I do now swear without fear of perjuring myself; and, further, in regards to my previous trial testimony identifying DENNIS KINDER as being the person who robbed me, I then so testified that he **could** have been the person but I did not testify that he was the person and that he did not rob me I now know beyond a reasonable doubt; and, therefore, this affidavit is made to clear DENNIS KINDER of any connection whatsoever with the crime for which he was charged, tried and convicted; and, wherefore, I, DANIEL KELLY, now state that I am only sorry that I was forced to testify at DENNIS KINDER'S trial, but I had no choice under

the circumstances I found myself facing at that particular time.

/s/ Daniel Kelly
DANIEL KELLY, Affiant

Subscribed and sworn to before me
this 24th day of August, 1962.

/s/ James W. Johnson
NOTARY PUBLIC,
Salt Lake County,
State of Utah

My Commission Expires:
September 20, 1963"

The defendant also obtained an affidavit from Charles Glenis Anderson, another prisoner, and this affidavit has also been filed with the court. It reads as follows:

"County of Salt Lake) : ss
State of Utah)

Comes now, CHARLES
GLENIS ANDERSON, being first duly
sworn, deposes and says:

That I, CHARLES GLENIS ANDERSON, of my own free will and so that the whole truth shall be made known to all concerned, do hereby certify in this affidavit that DANIEL L. KELLY did personally and voluntarily admit to me and tell me that DENNIS KINDER was innocent of the robbery of the AL HARRIS MILK DEPOT located

in Salt Lake City, in the State of Utah, and that he, DANIEL KELLY, was paid to testify at the trial of DENNIS KINDER by some person or persons not made known to me, and further, DANIEL L. KELLY did state to me that the aforesaid person or persons who had paid him to so testify was or were guilty of robbing the AL HARRIS MILK DEPOT and not DENNIS KINDER.

/s/ Charles G. Anderson
CHARLES GLENIS ANDERSON
Affiant

Subscribed and sworn to before me
this 24th day of August, 1962.

/s/ James W. Johnson
NOTARY PUBLIC
Salt Lake County
State of Utah

My Commission Expires:
September 20, 1963"

From past Utah Supreme Court decisions it appears that both of the following requirements must be met before newly discovered evidence can be grounds for a new trial:

1. The evidence could not with reasonable diligence have been discovered and produced at the trial.

77-38-3, Utah Code Annotated, 1953.
State vs. Weaver, 78 U. 515, 6 P.2d
167.
State vs. Moore, 41 U. 247, 126 P.
322.
State vs. Hawkins, 81 U. 16, 16
P.2d 13.
State vs. Williams, 49 U. 336,
164 P. 253.

2. The evidence must be of such a character or import as to justify a conclusion that upon a new trial the jury would bring a verdict which is different from the one that was rendered at the first trial.

State vs. Montgomery, 37 U. 515,
193 P. 815.
State vs. Sirmay, 40 U. 525, 122
P. 748.
State vs. Weaver, 78 U. 515, 6 P.2d
167.
State vs. Cooper, 114 U. 531, 201
P.2d 764.
State vs. Hawkins, 81 U. 16, 16 P.2d
13.

It is obvious from the circumstances under which the affidavits were obtained that they were unavailable until after the trial of the case. After his conviction, the defendant was committed to the

Utah State Prison for punishment. When he arrived there, he found that Mr. Daniel Kelly, the robbery victim and identifying witness for the prosecution, had been returned to the prison for parole violation between the time of the robbery and the time of the trial. The defendant did not become acquainted with the other witness, Charles Glenis Anderson, until he arrived at the prison. Therefore, the evidence brought forth in this case was not available to the defendant until after the trial and satisfies the first requirement listed above.

In regards to the second requirement, the content of both affidavits tend to change, discredit and repudiate the most important testimony at the trial--the identification of the defendant as the perpetrator of the crime. The testimony of Daniel Kelly (transcript, page 14,

lines 7, 8) indicates that he and the robber were alone in the store at the time that the robbery took place. There were no other witnesses to the occurrence and the State's case was based almost entirely on the identification of the defendant by Mr. Kelly. Any change in that testimony in a subsequent trial of this case would certainly lead to an opposite verdict by the jury. In fact, without such identification, it appears that the court would dismiss the case after the State had presented its evidence.

The Supreme Court of Utah has considered at least two previous cases in which the principal witnesses to the identity of the defendant have stated in affidavits that they were mistaken in the identity of the accused and that they were convinced that another person was guilty of the crime charged.

See State vs. Edmunds, 27 U. 1, 73 P. 886, and State vs. King, 27 U. 6, 73 P. 1045. In both of these cases, the appellant court reversed the decisions of the trial court for its failure to grant a new trial. By these cases the court has declared that where the witness admits that he was mistaken and that the identification was wrongful, then a new trial should be granted. The discovery of new evidence in our case makes it necessary for the court to set aside the verdict of the jury and to grant a new trial in this matter.

Point 2. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING THE PROSECUTION TO CROSS-EXAMINE THE DEFENDANT REGARDING MATTERS WHICH WERE NOT BROUGHT OUT ON DIRECT EXAMINATION.

The evidence brought out by the prosecution on cross-examination was improper for two reasons:

1. It was irrelevant because it tended to show evidence that the defendant

had stolen the truck in which he had driven to Arizona. This was a crime for which he had not been charged and for which he was not being tried.

2. The questions posed by the prosecutor were outside the scope of proper cross-examination and should have been excluded by the court.

As a preliminary to the discussion of these two allegations it should be pointed out that the testimony of the defendant on direct examination was carefully limited to the facts and circumstances which established his whereabouts at the time the robbery occurred. They refer exclusively to his alibi. On cross-examination the prosecutor was allowed to cross-examine the

defendant about a 1955 Ford pick-up truck which he drove to Arizona. He was subsequently allowed to question him about where he acquired the truck (page 40, lines 16-27), the colors of the truck (page 46, line 23 to Page 47, line 9), how he painted the truck (page 47, lines 10-30) and about an unrelated conversation with a policeman about the truck (page 50, lines 11-17). On rebuttal, the court permitted the prosecutor to call as a witness a police officer to contradict the defendant's testimony and to testify about a conversation which he had with the defendant regarding where he had acquired the truck (page 60, line 3 to page 62, line 3) and how he had painted the vehicle (page 62, lines 1-6).

Now let us turn our attention to the question of whether or not the evidence which the prosecutor brought out on cross-examination was relevant to the issues. When one reads the testimony of officer Donald Lyman (pages 59-63) regarding his interrogation of the defendant about the 1955 Ford pick-up truck, it becomes obvious that the truck was stolen by the accused a day or two before the robbery. This must have been even more obvious to the jury at the trial. This was a direct (successful) attempt on the part of the prosecution to bring in evidence to show that the defendant had committed another crime--that of stealing an automobile--prior to and apart from the crime for which he was being charged. In

allowing the prosecution to bring such evidence to the attention of the jury, the judge committed prejudicial error. A summary of the law in this field is set forth in 1 Jones on Evidence 290, 5th Edition, 1958, Section 162 on Relevancy. The text thereof is as follows:

"CRIMES OTHER THAN OFFENSE CHARGES.--Peculiarly applicable to criminal cases is the rule which prohibits the introduction of evidence of other wholly independent offenses as the basis for an inference that the defendant is guilty of the offense for which he is being tried. Otherwise stated, it is not proper to show by proof of previous bad conduct that he has a propensity for committing crime, and because he committed other crimes on previous occasions he probably committed the crime in question."

"Although it has been treated as a rule of relevancy, and is here so classified, the rule is recognized, not because the evidence of previous offenses is irrele-

vant, but for other more plausible reasons. One basic reason for the rule is that such evidence is apt to be given too much weight, rather than too little, by the jury, thus resulting in the conviction of a defendant because he is a bad man and not because of his specific guilt of the offense with which he is charged."

"It is a sound rule of public policy and therefore exclusionary in the sense that it keeps out relevant evidence for justifiable reasons. Besides the highly prejudicial character of such evidence there are the considerations that a defendant is entitled to be tried only for the crime charged against him, that he is entitled to notice and the right to prepare his defense to any charges brought against him free from surprise, that the evidence of collateral crimes would tend to confuse the jury and divert them from the real issues, that bad character cannot be proved by evidence of specific acts, and that the state is not entitled to attack the character of the accused until he has offered evidence of his good character."

The Utah Supreme Court has followed this view. The rule set forth by the cases is that evidence of other crimes is not admissible unless such evidence has probative value towards proving a material issue. See State vs. Torgerson, 4 U.2d 52, 286 P.2d 800.

In a concurring opinion written by Justice Lester A. Wade in the case of State vs. Winget, 6 U.2d 243, 310 P.2d 738, there appears a very comprehensive and instructive outline of the laws of the State of Utah in regards to the question of relevancy. It is stated as follows:

"The following is a brief review of the rules above referred to: Except where otherwise provided by Rules of Evidence all relevant evidence is admissible.

Relevant evidence means evidence having a tendency in reason to prove or disprove any material facts in issue. However, evidence that a person committed a crime upon one occasion is inadmissible to prove his disposition, bad character, or propensity to commit crime as the basis for an inference that he committed the crime for which he is on trial, but such evidence when relevant is admissible to prove some other material facts including the absence of mistake or accident, motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge or identity. The reason for excluding such evidence is that the danger of prejudice outweighs the probative value of such evidence. This is said to be an application of the rule against the initial introduction of evidence of bad character by the prosecution. However, it is generally recognized that the judge may in his discretion exclude such evidence if he finds that its probative value is substantially outweighed by the risk that the admission will cause undue consumption of time, create substantial danger of undue prejudice or of

confusing the issues or misleading the jury or unfairly and harmfully surprise the defendant who has not had reasonable opportunity to anticipate that such evidence would be offered."

An earlier Utah case which follows this doctrine is State vs. Williams, 36 U 273, 103 P 250. In that case the court reversed the verdict of the jury and stated that the evidence allowed by the judge was absolutely inadmissible. The court explained that where a defendant is on trial for a particular crime, evidence that he on some other occasion had committed a separate and distinct crime wholly disconnected from the crime charged in the indictment is never admissible unless there is some logical connection between the two from which it can be said that

proof of one tends to establish the other.

In summary on this point, we would like to quote from the case of State vs. Dixon, 12 U.2d 8, 361 P.2d 412. This is the last case to be decided by the Utah Supreme Court on this question. In this case the court said:

"It is the sound and salutary policy of the law to indulge everyone, including in convicted felons, with the presumption of innocence, and to require the State to obtain and present sufficient and creditible evidence to convince the jury of the defendant's guilt of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. If this were not so, serious and perhaps insuperable obstacles to reformation and rehabilitation would exist for a man who once acquired a bad reputation."

In allowing the prosecution

to bring in evidence which tended to establish that the defendant had committed another crime which was separate and apart from the crime charged in the information, the trial court committed prejudicial error and the verdict of the jury should be set aside and the case remanded to the District Court for a new trial.

Now let us consider the allegation that the questions posed by the prosecutor were outside the scope of proper cross-examination. This allegation involves the same or similar evidence as that referred to in allegation number 1.

In Utah Code Annotated, 1953, 77-44-2, we find the following:

"RULES OF EVIDENCE IN CIVIL
APPLICABLE TO CRIMINAL
CASES--EXCEPTIONS.--The

rules of evidence in civil actions shall be applicable also to criminal actions, except as otherwise provided in this Code."

In Section 77-44-5, the Utah law further states as follows:

"~~CROSS-EXAMINATION~~ OF DEFENDANT--FAILURE TO TESTIFY NOT TO PREJUDICE.-- If a defendant offers himself as a witness, he may be cross-examined by the counsel for the state the same as any other witness. His neglect or refusal to be a witness shall not in any manner prejudice him or be used against him on the trial or proceeding."

In the case of State vs. Murphy, 92 U.382, 68 P.2d 181, the Utah court stated the law regarding the scope of cross-examination of witnesses as follows:

"Under this section, (77-44-2) the scope of cross-examination of witnesses in criminal actions would be governed by the same rules as apply in civil actions."

Under Rule 43(b) of the Utah

Rules of Civil Procedure, the witness may be cross-examined by the adversary party only upon the subject matter of his examination in chief. However, this principle of law was not inaugurated with the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. This practice was followed by many cases prior to the adoption of these rules. See the following cases:

State vs. Johnson, 76 U.
84, 287 P. 909.

State vs. Williams, 36 U.
273, 103 P. 250.

State vs. Vance, 38 U. 1,
110 P. 434.

State vs. Thorne, 39 U.208,
117 P. 58.

The aforementioned case of State vs. Vance deserves particular attention by the court because the issue was similar to the one in the instant case. In that matter the defendant was charged

and convicted of murdering his wife by beating and poisoning. The court reversed the verdict of the jury because it held that any cross-examination of the defendant about the beating was held improper when the defendant denied that he had poisoned his wife.

The court said:

"But where, as in the case at bar, the witness limits his statements to negating or explaining mere isolated facts, or merely states what occurred at a particular time and place, then what took place at such time and place ordinarily constitutes the subject matter upon which the witness testified, and the cross-examination should be limited to that subject."

In the case of State vs. Bleazard, 103 U. 113, 133 P.2d 1000, which was decided in 1943, the court again said that cross-examination is limited in scope

by matters brought out on direct examination and the like.

In an early civil case, the court seems to expound the same doctrine. The following statement is found in the case of Jensen vs. S. H. Kress & Company, 87 U. 434, 49 P.2d 958, which was decided in 1935.

"~~Cross~~-examination is the detective of the courtroom.. It may be used to examine as to the credibility of the witness as a vehicle for transmitting the testimony, granted it is not too remote or the law of diminishing return from such cross-examination has not set in. But in every case it must either tend to modify, contradict, explain, deny or elaborate testimony of the witness in chief, or something which has been previously brought out on corss-examination, which itself was proper cross-examination."

The above cases and many others are carefully discussed and the Utah

rule on cross-examination is adequately stated in an excellent article by Ronan E. Degnan which is entitled "Non-Rules Evidence Law: Cross-Examination." This article is found in 6 Utah Law Review 323.

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