1963

State of Utah v. Dennis Sherman Kinder : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

POINT II.

NO ERROR REQUIRING REVERSAL WAS CREATED BY THE PROSECUTOR'S CROSS-EXAMINATION.

In the appellant's second point he contends that the trial court committed error in the cross-examination of the appellant (1) because the evidence elicited tended to prove the commission of another crime, and (2) the cross-examination exceeded the scope of direct examination.

As to both points, it is submitted that the appellant can make no claim for relief because he waived these objections at trial. On cross-examination, the prosecutor asked the appellant how he got to Tucson, Arizona, the type of vehicle he used, who

the vehicle was registered to, whether the vehicle was registered in Utah, and the State in which the license plates were issued which it carried (R-119, 120, 121). No objection was made to any of this testimony.

Thereafter, the prosecutor cross-examined the appellant as to his activities while in Tucson and what he did upon arrival. The first objection of counsel on scope of cross-examination, or any other objection relevant to the claim on appeal is when counsel objected to a question as to when the appellant arrived in Salt Lake City prior to October 30, 1961, the day appellant said he left for Arizona (R-126). The objection was expressly limited to contention that the time appellant arrived in Salt Lake City had no "bearing" on the case. The prosecutor indicated it was preliminary inquiry concerning the vehicle, which point appellant had previously testified concerning and without objection (R-126). The objection was overruled (R-127). Thereafter, the following questions were asked again without further objection (R-127):

"Q. (By Mr. Leary) When did you arrive in Salt Lake prior to October 30th of 1961?

A. I don't remember the exact date.

Q. How did you come to Salt Lake?

A. How did I come to Salt Lake?

Q. Yes. In what type of vehicle?

- A. You mean prior to this date?
- Q. Yes.
- A. I come by car.
- Q. You didn't have a pickup truck until you got to Salt Lake, is that right?
- A. No, sir.
- Q. How many days prior to October 30th did you acquire the 1955 Ford Pickup truck that you were talking about?
- A. In the time I went back to — in the time from when I went to California and back.
- Q. Well, let me ask it this way. You stated that this vehicle belonged to Robert Reed?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. And you don't know his address.
- A. No, sir, I don't know his address.
- Q. All right. Did you acquire this vehicle in Salt Lake City, the Ford pickup truck?
- A. No, sir.
- Q. Did you ever state to anyone that you had?
- A. No, sir.
- Q. Now, it was in this same pickup truck that you drove to Tucson, is that correct?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. All right. Now Mr. Kinder, I'll show you again State's proposed Exhibit No. 3 and I'll ask you to examine the exhibit again and tell me whether or not any of the writing that appears thereon was written by you?
- A. No."

Subsequently, after attempts by the prosecutor to get appellant to admit Exhibit 3, the motel card, was in his handwriting, the prosecutor continued without objection (R-133) :

“Q. (By Mr. Leary) Mr. Kinder, what was the color of the pickup that you drove out of Salt Lake?

A. Brown.

Q. Solid brown?

A. No, sir.

Q. Well, tell me the colors of it, please.

A. It had a black top, very top.

Q. I can barely hear you.

A. I said the top, the very top was black.

Q. What else?

A. That's all.

Q. What was the other color of the truck?

A. Pardon?

Q. What were the other colors of the truck?

A. I told you, brown and black.

Q. What were the colors of the wheels?

A. Black, I guess.

Q. Well, didn't you paint this truck on the 30th with your stepbrother, Henry Piep?

A. Yes, sir. He helped me.

Q. What colors did you paint it?

A. I told you.

MR. McRAE: If the Court please, this witness has testified as to alibi and whether he painted this truck has no bearing on alibi.

THE COURT: Objection overruled.

Q. (By Mr. Leary) What colors did you paint it?

A. Black.

Q. Solid black?

A. No.

Q. Well, what parts did you paint them?

A. The top.

Q. Just the top of the cab?

A. Right.

Q. Nothing else?

A. No, sir, I don't think so.

Q. All right. And that was the identically the same color when you arrived in Tucson, is that correct?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. When you registered in the motel?

A. What motel?"

The only objection registered to the last quoted matter was to materiality not to scope. Finally, (R-138, 139) the same questions as to the appellant's arrival in Salt Lake were asked and answers taken without objection. Based on the above, it is submitted that appellant waived any claim he may have had by (1) not making his objection on the correct grounds,

State v. Musser, 110 Utah 534, 175 P. 2d 725 (1947); *State v. Mathews*, 375 P. 2d 392 (Utah 1962), and (2) by initially allowing evidence to come in without objection with reference to the vehicle and not continuing his objections of the time of arrival in Salt Lake. Abbott, *Criminal Trial Practice*, 4th Ed., § 348 notes:

“It is a general rule that, in order to take advantage of the admission of evidence by the trial court as error and to secure a reversal of its judgment upon appeal, the evidence must be objected to in the trial court. * * *”

Secondly, it is submitted that the evidence in no way tends to show that the appellant committed any other crime except by the most flexible imagination. It is obvious from the record that the prosecutor was endeavoring to lay a sufficient foundation connecting the appellant with the motel registration card, Exhibit 3, by which he would destroy the appellant's alibi. No where in the record does it appear that the prosecutor asked the appellant whether he bought or stole the vehicle, nor were any prejudicial remarks made that could be deemed accusatory as was the case in *State v. Dickson*, 12 Utah 2d 8, 361 P. 2d 412 (1961). The means by which appellant travelled to Arizona, the motel registration and the circumstances surrounding his leaving Salt Lake were all directly relevant to the validity

of his claim of alibi. Since no tangible evidence was before the jury except strained supposition that would allow them to conclude that appellant stole the vehicle in which he travelled to Arizona, and since defense counsel made no objection or side bar assertion to the court that such was what the prosecutor was endeavoring to show, and finally, since the prosecutor's obvious intention was to lay a foundation for Exhibit 3 with which to impeach the appellant as to the time he left Salt Lake, no reasonable basis to claim that the prosecutor attempted to prove another crime is supportable.

Third, it is submitted that even if the prosecutor had shown that appellant stole the vehicle with which he went to Arizona, such would be admissible. The facts would show that the day before the robbery, the appellant possessed two hand guns, one of which was similar to that used in the robbery, that the appellant changed the color of the vehicle he used, the next day or so, in going to Arizona. This evidence, if coupled with a showing that the appellant stole the vehicle the day or so before the robbery, would tend to show a plan or design for committing the crime and then fleeing the state. In, *State v. Kappas*, 100 Utah 274, 114, P. 2d 205 (1941) this court approved a showing that the defendant had stolen other sheep than those with which he was charged with stealing. The court said:

“On the question of proof of other offenses, the rule is that a defendant, on trial for a certain offense, must be convicted if at all by evidence showing he is guilty of that offense alone, and proof of his commission of other unconnected crimes must be excluded. Exceptions to the rule are found in such situations as those in which the prosecution is permitted to prove the identification of the accused, motive, intent, plan, or knowledge. * * * And it is also competent to show that the offense charged was part of a common scheme which may include one or more other offenses. * * *”

In, *State v. Harries*, 118 Utah 260, 221 P. 2d 605 (1950), the appellant was convicted of receiving a bribe. Evidence of other offenses, selling liquor to private clubs, was admitted to show a common scheme or design. This court noted:

“It is asserted by the defendant that evidence of other offenses, particularly with reference to the sale of liquor to other clubs, was inadmissible as to tended to convict defendant of crimes with which he was not charged. Evidence of other offenses is admissible when such evidence has a tendency directly to establish the particular crime. In addition, evidence of other like crimes is usually competent to prove a specific crime when it tends to establish motive, intent, the absence of mistake or accident, or a common scheme or plan embracing the commission of two or more crimes so related to each other than proof of one tends to establish the others. Any pertinent fact which throws light upon the subject under judicial consideration, the accused’s guilt or

innocence of the crime for which he is charged, is admissible. Such fact is not to be excluded merely because it may also prove or tend to prove that the accused has committed another similar crime. Relevant and material evidence does not become irrelevant or immaterial merely because it points to other offenses."

See also *State v. Trogstad*, 98 Utah 565, 100 P. 2d (1940).

Wigmore, *Evidence*, 3rd., Col. II, § 238 comments: "Any act, which under the circumstances and according to experience as naturally interpreted and applied would indicate a probable design, is relevant and admissible."

The evidence of stealing a vehicle, and painting it, would clearly indicate preparation for flight after the anticipated commission of the robbery. *Johnson v. State*, 70 Okl. Cr. 270, 106 P. 2d 149. As Wigmore notes, this is primarily a matter of the trial court's discretion, and here where there is a logical connection between the two offenses the "probative value" of such evidence is apparent and no claim of error is supportable. *State v. Torgerson*, 4 Utah 2d 52, 286 P. 2d 800 (1955).

Fourth, it is submitted that the evidence introduced did not exceed the proper bounds of the scope of direct examination, even if it is deemed there was no waiver of the issue. In the instant case, the appellant contended by way of alibi that at the time of the commission of the crime alleged

he was on his way to Arizona. The appellant did not clearly object to any of the testimony relating to ownership of the vehicle, and on page 127 of the record, it is noted that the prosecutor went into the date of acquisition of the vehicle. This was after an objection (R-126) which was directed to the scope of examination and relevancy. See Page 14, *infra*.

The objection made was the only objection as to scope of examination. It is submitted that the examination was proper. It is noted that by virtue of Section 77-44-2, Utah Code Annotated 1953, the rules of evidence relating to scope of cross-examination are those generally applicable in civil cases. *State v. Murphy*, 92 Utah 382, 68 P. 2d 188 (1937). Therefore, error would only be claimable if the information sought as to the time of acquisition of the vehicle was beyond the reasonable scope of cross-examination permissible from the direct examination. It is submitted that it was an appropriate exercise of the trial court's discretion. The general rule in this area is noted in Abbott, *Criminal Trial Practice*, 4th Ed., § 313:

“By the English rule which is followed in several of the states a witness who has sworn and gives some evidence, however formal or unimportant, may be cross-examined in relation to all matters involved in the issues. But a stricter rule, sometimes called by way of distinction the ‘American rule.’ obtains in the

Federal and very many of the state courts. Under this rule the cross-examination of a witness is limited to an inquiry as to the facts and circumstances connected with the matters stated in his direct examination. In the application of this rule much is left to the discretion of the trial court.

Under the usual interpretation of this rule a cross-examination always may include whatever tends to qualify or explain the direct testimony of a witness and to develop and unfold the whole transaction about which he has only been partially interrogated."

The weight of recent opinion as to the proper rule to be promulgated favors wide latitude. McCormick, *Evidence*, § 27; Wigmore, *Evidence*, 3rd Ed., §§ 1886-1889; Degnan, *Non-Rules Evidence Law: Cross-Examination*, 6 *Utah L. Rev.*, p. 323, 330 (1958), Model Code of Evidence, Rule 105(h). Although the Utah court has not adopted the English rule, it will appear from an analysis of the more recent cases from this court on the subject that the more restrictive rule is not necessarily the applicable standard, but rather one of reasonable discretion is appropos. The appellant's principal reliance is placed on the case of *State v. Vance*, 38 Utah 1, 110 Pac. 434 (1910).¹ This case is clearly distinguishable from the instant one since the defendant limited his testimony to the poisoning of his wife, whereas the prosecutor was allowed to go

¹ This case has been soundly criticized. Degnan op. cit., p. 335.

into instances of beatings given by defendant to his wife. The instant case is no where near so flagrant. Further, the *Vance* case was burdened by some misapprehensions of constitutional problems, again not raised or directly present here.

In, *State v. Murphy*, supra, this court stated:

“* * * reviewing court ought to be very careful, and should hesitate long before reversing judgments upon the ground that the trial court either restricted or enlarged the scope of cross-examination.”

The court further noted that generally the scope of cross-examination was a matter within the sound discretion of the trial court. See also McCormick, *Evidence*, § 24, p. 47:

“Accordingly the earlier and even many of the recent cases in jurisdictions adopting the restrictive rule in any of its forms, emphasize the power of the trial judge to allow deviations in his discretion. It has been said, indeed, that both the courts following the wide-open and those adopting the restrictive practice ‘recognize the discretionary power of the trial court to allow variations from the customary order and decline ordinarily to consider as an error any variation sanctioned by the trial court.’”

The case of *In re Bryan's Estate*, 82 Utah 390, 25 P. 2d 602 (1933). This court said as to the latitude of cross-examination, p. 403, Utah Reports:

“* * * The rule permits great latitude on cross-examination when the defense is not some-

thing consisting entirely of new material, but is a denial of the allegations made by the contestant and where by cross-examination the proponent seeks to disprove the very case the witness has made for the party calling him.

* * *

Clearly, where the issue is one of alibi, as in the instant case, which amounts to a general denial of the crime rather than some affirmative defense, the Bryans Estate rule allowing great latitude should be allowed. The inquiry as to the time of acquisition of the vehicle was directly of concern to explain and rebut the appellant's alibi since it was connected to the question of the means used by the appellant to get to his place of claimed alibi. Further, since Exhibit 3 would appear to have refuted that alibi and impeached the accused, it was necessary to establish that the vehicle registered on Exhibit 3 was the same one as was owned or possessed by appellant, and consequently, the time and place of acquisition was directly connected with the overall claim of alibi. It is submitted that such inquiry was properly a matter within the sound discretion of the trial judge.

Finally, it is submitted that the limited inquiry as to the time of acquisition of the vehicle, even if excessive as to scope of examination, was not prejudicial to the appellant in view of his admissions of guilt, his proximity and connection with the crime

and the tools of commission of the crime, and the obvious perjury of the appellant viza vis Exhibit 3. The Legislature has stated that a case will not be reversed except for substantial errors effecting the rights of an accused. Error will not be presumed. Sec. 77-42-1, U.C.A. 1953. Clearly, such a situation of harmless error is the best that can be made out here.²

CONCLUSION

The appellant has approached the wrong court in his effort to seek a new trial, and therefore has no right to such an order from this court. Appellant's contention on proof of other crimes is not well taken since (1) it was waived; (2) it did in fact not prove other crimes and (3) even if it did, it was relevant to show a design and preparation for the crime. Secondly, the evidentiary claim on exceeding the scope of direct examination is not well taken since (1) it was waived; (2) the proper bounds of cross-examination was not exceeded and

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